No. 23-CF-0344

(Superior Court No. 2021-CF3-004336)

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Clerk of the Court Received 02/06/2024 10:38 AM

E.L.P.,

APPELLANT

v.

UNITED STATES, APPELLEE

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division (Hon. Robert Okun, Trial Judge)

CORRECTED BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Matthew B. Kaplan D.C. Bar No. 484760 1100 N. Glebe Rd. Suite 1010 Arlington, VA 22201 (703) 665-9529 mbkaplan@thekaplanlawfirm.com Attorney for Appellant Appointed by the Court

STATEMENT OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction to hear this matter because this is a timely appeal of a final judgment entered after a criminal conviction. The trial court's judgment constituted a final decision by that court which is appealable to this court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant E.L.P. presents the following issue for review:

- Whether improper and prejudicial remarks by the prosecutor about E.L.P.'s silence before his testimony require reversal.
- Whether E.L.P.'s firearms convictions must be vacated because the relevant statutes are unconstitutional.
- Whether certain convictions should be merged.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is E.L.P.'s appeal of his convictions after a jury trial in the Superior Court. He was convicted of one count each of aggravated assault while armed, assault with a dangerous weapon, assault with significant bodily injury while armed, carrying a pistol without a license, possession of an unregistered firearm, and unlawful possession of ammunition. He was also convicted of three counts of possession of a firearm during a crime of violence. The Jury acquitted E.L.P. of assault with intent to kill while armed and an associated possession of a firearm

1

during a crime of violence charge. The trial court's total sentence for all the convicted offenses (all sentences run concurrently) was ten years incarceration, with all but six years suspended. The sentence was imposed pursuant to the Youth Rehabilitation Act.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Shooting and Its Immediate Aftermath

In the early morning hours of July 30, 2021, Edwin Hernandez was shot in the chest in the N.W. quadrant of the District of Columbia. Tr. 1-5-23 at 5-6, 19.¹ Hernandez was injured and hospitalized. E.L.P. admitted to the shooting but testified that he had acted in self-defense.

The victim, Hernandez, was found on the street, in the immediate vicinity of a 14th Street restaurant or nightclub called Johanas. *Id.* at 19. Hernandez testified that he had been at Johana's in the early morning hours with Selvin Amaya, a close friend who he referred to as his brother, when a fight broke out between several women at the club. *Id.* at 52-54, 64. After the fight, he left the club because "everyone" was being "kicked out." *Id.* at 54. According to Hernandez, the next thing he remembered was "waking up on the ground" inside Johanas, after the shooting. *Id.* at 56. Hernandez did not know who shot him. *Id.* at 66.

¹ Citations in the format Tr. [date] at [page number] refer to the transcripts in this case.

Hernandez's injury was serious. Eric Corder, a medical doctor who had treated Hernandez, testified for the government that, if Hernandez had not been treated, he would likely have died. Tr. 1-11-23 at 26. Hernandez remained in the hospital for five days. *Id.* at 28. He testified that he eventually made a full recovery and that his injury was no longer affecting him, "not at all." Tr. 1-5-23 at 61.

The government presented expert testimony that indicated that E.L.P.'s DNA had been found on a gun that had been recovered near the scene of the shooting. Tr. 1-10-23 at 126. And another government expert testified that a shell casing found near the shooting was consistent with having come from that firearm. *Id.* at 80.

Called by the government, Selvin Amaya gave an account of what had happened inside Johana's that was consistent with Hernandez's. Tr. 1-5-23 at 83-84. On cross-examination, Amaya acknowledged that a third person was also with himself and Hernandez. *Id.* at 126. He further testified that, after leaving the club, he and Hernandez walked toward the car in which they had arrived. *Id.* at 84-85. But before they could get to the car a man in an orange shirt and black pants, who was also leaving the club, and who was walking in front of them, suddenly turned around, lifted his shirt, and, from about six to eight feet away, and without saying anything, pulled out a handgun and fired a single shot into Hernandez's chest. *Id.* at 87-93. The shooter was not with anyone else. *Id.* at 117. Amaya and Hernandez then ran back to Johanas. *Id.* at 93-94. The police subsequently took Amaya to a location where they had E.L.P. detained. After asking the police to shine a light on E.L.P.'s face, Amaya identified E.L.P. as the shooter. *Id.* at 107-08.

Testifying in his own defense, E.L.P. provided a different version of the events outside of Johanas. He said he had been at Johanas with Gixele, his exgirlfriend. Tr. 1-11-23 at 89. Throughout the evening, there was "tension" between Gixele and another woman who was also at the club because of a comment made to Gixele by that woman. *Id.* at 92. At one point a large man with tattoos and a beard, one of several people with the woman with whom Gixele was in "tension," tried to trip Gixele. *Id.* at 93. E.L.P. and the tattooed man then had a verbal altercation. *Id.* at 95. The man said that he wanted to fight E.L.P. *Id.* A fight then broke out between Gixele and the woman with whom she was in tension. *Id.* at 95-96. The fight escalated, with others joining in, including E.L.P., who threw several punches, including at least one at a woman. *Id.* at 97.

E.L.P. and Gixele separated and E.L.P. began walking towards his car. *Id.* at 97. Hearing people yelling threats behind him, he turned around and saw the tattooed individual and two others "rushing" towards him. *Id.* at 98-99. One of the

4

individuals yelled at him "you're going to pay for what you did to my girl, bitch." *Id.* at 100. The onrushing men came within three or four feet of him and E.L.P. explained what happened next:

They was reaching out to their pants, like – I don't know if they was grabbing -- like, putting their pants up, fixing their pants or grabbing -- going to reach down for something. Like, my thought was -- my thought was that they was reaching for a knife or a weapon.

Id. at 102. One of the individuals reached out toward him. *Id.* at 104. E.L.P. thought that he "was going to get jumped or stabbed or, shit." *Id.* at 103. Fearing for his life, he pulled out a gun he had on his person and fired a single shot. *Id.* at 104.

E.L.P. acknowledged that, on the day of the shooting, he had lied to the police, falsely denying that he had shot anyone. *Id.* at 142.

Trial Issues

In its cross-examination of E.L.P., the government suggested that E.L.P., having supposedly long insisted that he did not shoot Hernandez, was only now changing his story because he had, at trial, heard the government's evidence. *See* Tr. 1-11-23 at 142 (Q [by prosecutor]: "now your story is, well, yeah, okay, I had the gun and I shot him"). E.L.P.'s counsel objected, stating that E.L.P. had learned about the evidence against him from "conversations with counsel." *Id.* at 143. Counsel added that the prosecutor was "saying he's changed what he said from what he told the police to what he said in court after listening to what had been -after listening to the testimony that had been offered in court" and that the only way to rebut this and show that E.L.P.'s self-defense claim was not a recent invention would be through providing the jury with information about attorneyclient communications, which would be a violation of the privilege. *Id.* at 143-44. The trial court did not rule on the objection. It did, however, tell the prosecutor not to ask more questions "about this," but that the government was free to "make arguments" on this point in closing. *Id.* at 145. Subsequently, in his closing, the prosecutor told the jury that "only after you heard all that evidence did the defendant tell you, okay, yeah, I'm the shooter." Tr. 1-12-23 at 70.

After it began its deliberations the jury sent the court a question: "Are we able to see or be informed of the defendant's original response/answer/plea to the government's charges?" Tr. 1-13-23 at 3. The trial court's answer was "no, because the defendant's original response/answer/plea to the government's charges is not evidence in this case." *Id.* at 12.

Before the trial, E.L.P. moved to dismiss the weapons charges (carrying a pistol without a license, possession of an unregistered firearm and unlawful possession of ammunition) on the grounds that the relevant statutes were

unconstitutional. R. pdf 191 (Nov. 2, 2022 Motion).² E.L.P. had been twenty years old at the time of these offenses and had no criminal history. *Id.* (citing presentence report). D.C. law, however, provides that adults under 21 cannot legally possess a handgun and restricts the access of such individuals to ammunition. E.L.P. contended that this violated the right to bear arms guaranteed by the Second Amendment. The trial court disagreed and denied the motion in a written order. R. pdf 1311, Limited App. 1 (Dec. 14, 2022 Order).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

During the trial, the prosecutor made remarks, over defense counsel's objections, about E.L.P.'s silence that were unfair and inconsistent with this court's precedent. This precedent remains valid even though a panel of this court has purported to overrule it—absent unusual circumstances, not present here, one panel cannot overrule the decisions of a prior panel. The prosecutor's improper remarks require reversal of each of E.L.P.'s convictions.

Additionally, E.L.P.'s convictions for violating firearms statutes must be vacated because those statutes are unconstitutional. They prohibit adults under twenty-one—including E.L.P. at the time of the offense—from carrying handguns.

² Citations in the form "R. pdf [page number]" refer to the principal record and to the PDF pagination of that document.

Recent Supreme Court cases interpreting the Second Amendment make it clear that such a prohibition is not constitutionally permissible.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>PERMITTING THE GOVERNMENT TO COMMENT ON E.L.P.'S</u> <u>SILENCE BEFORE HIS TESTIMONY WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR</u>

The prosecutor's conduct in this case was inconsistent with *Jenkins v*. *United States*, 374 A.2d 581, 584 (D.C. 1977). In that case, as in this case, the prosecutor told the jury that the defendant's testimony should not be believed because the defendant had only testified after the prosecution concluded its case, allowing the defendant to tailor his testimony to the evidence presented. *Id.* at 584. The fairness concerns arising from such comments are self-evident. The prosecutor is taking the defendant to task for something he cannot do—although the jury may not know it, a defendant cannot take the stand before the government completes its case. Unsurprisingly, *Jenkins* held that such comments were "improper" and must not be permitted. *Id.* at 584. If *Jenkins* applies, the government's conduct in this case was error.

But, in a subsequent case, *Teoume-Lessane v. United States*, 931 A.2d 478 (D.C. 2007), a panel of this court purported to overrule *Jenkins. Teoume-Lessane* recognized that, normally, "a division of this court may not overrule the prior decision of another." *Id.* at 584 (citing *M.A.P. v. Ryan*, 285 A.2d 310, 312 (D.C. 1971)). But it nevertheless contended that overruling was appropriate because

Jenkins "was a constitutional decision" and that the Supreme Court's post-*Jenkins* decision in *Portuondo v. Agard*, 529 U.S. 61 (2000), had held that a prosecutor adversely commenting on a defendant's pre-testimony silence did not violate the Fifth Amendment's guarantee against self-incrimination. *Id.* at 494. Because *Portuondo* had, according to the *Teoume-Lessane*, been based on the now-rejected premise that such comments violated the Constitution, *Jenkins* was no longer good law. But it is clear from *Jenkins*'s text that the rule set out in that case was not based on the Constitution.

Significantly, the error in *Jenkins* was deemed harmless, a circumstance that sheds light on whether the court in that case thought it was correcting a constitutional error. If it had thought the prosecutorial comments it deemed improper were constitutional violations it would have been required to base its harmless error analysis on *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967), the case that sets the standard for determining whether constitutional error is harmless. In accordance with *Chapman*, it would have been required to find that the government had shown "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Id.* at 24; *see also Oliver v. United States*, 384 A.2d 642, 645 (D.C. 1978) (case contemporaneous with *Jenkins* explaining that "under the *Chapman* test" issue is "whether we can say" that the error was harmless "beyond a reasonable doubt").

9

Moreover, the ruling in *Jenkins* that is relevant to this case—that the prosecutor should not have argued that the defendant's credibility was undermined by the timing of the defendant's testimony-was not an isolated holding. It was contained in a broader discussion of statements in the government's closing that Jenkins deemed improper on grounds of fairness. Little in this discussion suggests that the court thought that constitutional violations had occurred. It observed that the "prosecutor's remarks clearly reflected his own opinion as to appellant's lack of veracity," and that this was impermissible. Id. at 584. But this was surely not a holding that such remarks are unconstitutional. Then, in the same paragraph, the court added that the prosecutor had also wrongly "sought to have the jury draw adverse inferences from appellant's exercise of his right to confront the witnesses against him. Cf. Griffin v. California." Id. at 584 (footnote omitted). At the end of this sentence (before the "cf.") the court inserted a footnote that referred to another form of improper (but not unconstitutional) prosecutorial misconduct conduct it thought analogous to the error in its case: "comments ... on a defendant's demeanor in the courtroom while off the witness stand." Id. at 584 n.5. The only indication that the Court was thinking about the Constitution was the *cf.* citation to *Griffin*, 380 U.S. 609 (1965).³ That case held, on a very different fact pattern, that there is generally a constitutional violation if a prosecutor suggests to the jury that it can use a defendant's failure to testify to support a finding of guilt. 380 U.S. at 615.⁴ In context, it is clear that *Griffin* was concerned about the requirements of procedural fairness applicable to trials in this jurisdiction, not constitutional norms.

Because *Jenkins* was not based on the constitution, it was not undermined by *Portuondo* and, as the earlier decision, *Jenkins*, not *Portuondo*, governs. *See Thomas v. United States*, 731 A.2d 415, 420 n.6 (D.C. 1999) ("Where a division of this court fails to adhere to earlier controlling authority, we are required to follow the earlier decision rather than the later one."). Consequently, the prosecutor's remarks about E.L.P.'s pre-testimony silence was error.⁵

³ "*Cf*." is not an assertion that the cited authority directly supports a particular proposition. The Bluebook explains that this signal means that the "[c]ited authority support a proposition different from the main proposition but sufficiently analogous to lend support. Literally, "*cf*." means 'compare." *The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citation* 23(Columbia Law Review Ass'n et al. eds. 17th ed. 2000).

⁴ In *Griffin*, the prosecutor's argument to the jury that the defendant would have testified if he could provide a non-inculpatory account of what had happened was bolstered by a jury instruction which said that the defendant's failure to testify *could* be used against him. 380 U.S. at 610-11.

⁵ Smith v. United States, 175 A.3d 623, 632 n.10 (D.C. 2017), applied Teoume-Lessane in a footnote under facts similar to those in this case. But that (footnote continued next page)

There is nothing incongruous about the fact that the prosecutor's conduct in this case did not violate the Constitution but was nevertheless error. As Justice Stevens pointed out in his concurrence, while Portuondo held that it was not a constitutional violation for a prosecutor to argue that a testifying defendant had an opportunity to tailor his testimony, unfair prosecutorial conduct that does not "cross[] the high threshold that separates trial error" from constitutional error may, nevertheless, not be proper and permissible. 529 U.S. at 76 (Stevens, J., concurring). Questions and argument impugning a defendant for doing what he was obligated to do-remaining silent during trial until it was the turn of the defense to present its case—are grossly unfair and "should be discouraged rather than validated." Id. at 76. "States or trial judges" retain "the power either to prevent such argument entirely or to provide juries with instructions that explain the necessity, and the justifications, for the defendant's attendance at trial." Id. This court has recognized that it has supervisory authority to establish procedural requirements meant to ensure fairness, and it has done so in Jenkins and in other cases. See Boyd v. United States, 586 A.2d 670, 678 n.14 (D.C. 1991) (collecting

decision did not analyze whether *Jenkins* had been properly overruled. *See Richman Towers Tenants' Ass'n v. Richman Towers LLC*, 17 A.3d 590, 610 (D.C. 2011) ("The rule of *stare decisis* is never properly invoked unless in the decision put forward as precedent the judicial mind has been applied to and passed upon the precise question." (citing *District of Columbia v. Sierra Club*, 670 A.2d 354, 360 (D.C. 1996)) (brackets omitted)).

cases); *see also, e.g., Fortune v. United States*, 59 A.3d 949, 955 (D.C. 2013) ("In the exercise of our supervisory power this court has articulated the appropriate procedures ... to follow" when a defendant seeks to waive a jury trial).

The prosecutorial statements in this case were particularly unfair because E.L.P. did not initially remain silent, as was apparently the case with the *Portuondo* defendant. The day of his arrest he told an admittedly false narrative. As defense counsel pointed out to the trial court, the jury could readily have concluded from the prosecutor's remarks that he had stuck to his false story for the year and a half between his initial statement and his trial, only belatedly changing his account after several days of testimony. Indeed, based on the jury's note asking for information on E.L.P.'s "original response/answer/plea to the government's charges," it is likely that is exactly what the jury suspected. But the jury was not told that, before trial, there was no forum at which E.L.P. would have been expected to address the veracity of his initial statements and that any competent attorney would have advised him not to speak before his trial testimony.

Moreover, E.L.P. was left with no effective way of countering what the government insinuated. As a matter of practical reality, he could not, for example, offer testimony from his own attorneys—who could not be trial witnesses and who could not be expected to disclose privileged conversations—as to when E.L.P. had

13

first stated that what he initially told the police was wrong and that he had shot Hernandez in self-defense.

This error was not harmless. The government's improper questioning and remarks in closing gravely undermined E.L.P.'s credibility. And this case was essentially a credibility contest between E.L.P. and Selvin Amaya, the only witness who disputed E.L.P.'s account of what had happened.

II. <u>E.L.P.'S FIREARMS CONVICTIONS ARE BASED ON</u> <u>UNCONSTITUTIONAL STATUTES</u>

The District of Columbia prohibits adults aged 18-20 from carrying handguns. This is inconsistent with recent Supreme Court precedent interpreting the Second Amendment, including *N.Y. State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n v. Bruen*, 142 S. Ct. 2111 (2022).

A. D.C.'s Statutory Scheme Prohibits Adults Under 21 From Carrying Handguns

To convict E.L.P. for carrying a pistol without a license, the government was required to prove that he possessed a pistol and that he did not have "a license [to carry a pistol] issued pursuant to District of Columbia law." D.C. Code § 22-4504(a).⁶ To convict for possession of an unregistered firearm the government was

⁶ In E.L.P.'s case he was charged with carrying a pistol "outside his home or place of business," a subset of the broader carrying a pistol without a license offense that carries an enhanced penalty. *See id.*

required to prove that E.L.P. "receive[d], possess[ed], [or] control[ed]," a "firearm" and that, at that time, he did not "hold [a] a valid registration certificate for the firearm." D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a). And to convict E.L.P. for unlawful possession of ammunition, the government was required to prove that he "possess[ed]" ammunition and was not the "holder of a valid registration certificate for a firearm." D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(a)(3).

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