BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-344

# EMANUEL LEYTON PICON,

v.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB John P. Mannarino Alec Levy Randle Wilson

- \* ERIC HANSFORD
   D.C. Bar #1017785
   Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Eric.Hansford@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2021-CF3-4336

CT OF COL

Clerk of the Court Received 02/29/2024 11:56 AM Resubmitted 02/29/2024 01:07 PM Filed 02/29/2024 01:07 PM

Appellant,

Appellee.

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

The Supreme Court held that New York's "proper cause" requirement violated the Second Amendment. In doing so, *Bruen* disproved the then-prevailing two-step test fashioned by the lower courts after *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008), which required (1) determining whether the regulated conduct fell within "the original scope of the [Second Amendment] right based on its historical meaning," and if so, (2) engaging in a means-end balancing inquiry to decide whether the challenged regulation satisfied either strict or intermediate scrutiny (depending on whether the regulation burdened a "core" right). *Bruen* held that

this two-step approach[] is one step too many. Step one of the predominant framework is broadly consistent with *Heller*, which demands a test rooted in the Second Amendment's text, as informed by history. But *Heller* and *McDonald* [v. *City of Chicago*, 561 U.S. 742 (2010),] do not support applying means-end scrutiny in the Second Amendment context.

597 U.S. at 19 (cleaned up). In adopting this approach, *Bruen* explained that it was applying—not altering—*Heller*'s test: "The test that we set forth in *Heller* and apply today requires courts to assess whether modern firearms regulations are consistent with the Second Amendment's text and historical understanding." *Id.* at 26.

Applying the text-and-history test, *Bruen* first concluded that the Second Amendment's text—"the right of the people to keep and bear Arms shall not be infringed"—protected conduct governed by New York's "proper cause" requirement: the right of "ordinary, law-abiding, *adult* citizens" who wish to "carry[] handguns publicly for self-defense." *Id.* at 31-32 (emphasis added). "The Second Amendment's plain text thus presumptively guarantees petitioners ... a right to 'bear' arms in public for self-defense." *Id.* 

Next, the Court considered whether New York could show that its propercause requirement was "consistent with this Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation," such that "the pre-existing right codified in the Second Amendment, and made applicable to the States through the Fourteenth, does not protect petitioners' proposed course of conduct." 597 U.S. at 34. *Bruen* agreed that, "[t]hroughout modern Anglo-American history, the right to keep and bear arms in public has traditionally been subject to well-defined restrictions governing the intent for which one could carry arms, the manner of carry, or the exceptional circumstances under which one could not carry arms." *Id.* at 38. Nonetheless, there was not "a tradition of broadly prohibiting the public carry of commonly used firearms for self-defense," or of "limiting public carry only to those law-abiding citizens who demonstrate a special need for self-defense." *Id.* Accordingly, "[u]nder *Heller*'s text-and-history standard, the proper-cause requirement is therefore unconstitutional." *Id.* at 39

Notably, *Bruen* did not hold—or even suggest—that merely requiring a license would itself infringe on the Second Amendment's text, so as to shift the burden to the government to justify a historical tradition of licensing. This Court has already recognized that "*Bruen* 'does not prohibit States from imposing licensing requirements' for concealed-carry of a handgun for self-defense." *Abed v. United States*, 278 A.3d 114, 129 n.27 (D.C. 2022) (quoting *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 79 (Kavanaugh, J. concurring)). To the contrary, *Bruen* emphasized:

To be clear, nothing in our analysis should be interpreted to suggest the unconstitutionality of the 43 States' "shall-issue" licensing regimes, under which a general desire for self-defense is sufficient to obtain a permit. Because these licensing regimes do not require applicants to show an atypical need for armed self-defense, *they do not necessarily prevent "law-abiding, responsible citizens" from exercising their Second Amendment right to public carry.* Rather, it appears that these shall-issue regimes, which often require applicants to undergo a background check or pass a firearms safety course, *are designed to ensure only that those bearing arms in the jurisdiction are, in fact, "law-abiding, responsible citizens."* And they likewise appear to contain only narrow, objective, and definite standards guiding licensing

officials, rather than requiring the appraisal of facts, the exercise of judgment, and the formation of an opinion—features that typify propercause standards like New York's.

597 U.S. at 38 n.9 (emphasis added) (cleaned up).

In a separate concurrence, Justice Alito emphasized that *Bruen* "does not expand the categories of people who may lawfully possess a gun," and federal law thus continues to "bar[] the sale of a handgun to anyone under the age of 21." *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 73 (Alito, J., concurring) (citing 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(b)(1), (c)(1)).

Bruen did not abrogate all post-Heller caselaw upholding the District of Columbia's gun laws. To the extent that prior decisions applied Heller's "step one" text-and-history analysis, Bruen does not call these precedents into question at all. See Bruen, 597 U.S. at 19 ("Step one of the predominant framework is broadly consistent with Heller, which demands a test rooted in the Second Amendment's text, as informed by history."). Bruen calls into question only those decisions predicated upon the "second step" means-end balancing. Since Heller, both this Court and the D.C. Circuit have repeatedly upheld the District's gun registration and licensing regimes based on reasoning that survives Bruen.

As to registration, this Court held in *Lowery v. United States*, 3 A.3d 1169 (D.C. 2010), that the D.C. "restrictions" on gun registration—including the agerelated restrictions found in D.C. Code § 7-2502.03(a)(1)—"are compatible with the core interest protected by the Second Amendment." *Id.* at 1175-76; *see also Heller*  *v. District of Columbia (Heller II)*, 670 F.3d 1244, 1254-55 (D.C. Cir. 2011) ("basic registration requirements are self-evidently de minimis, for they are similar to other common registration or licensing schemes, such as those for voting or for driving a car, that cannot reasonably be considered onerous"). More recently, in *Dubose v. United States*, 213 A.3d 599 (D.C. 2019), the Court emphasized that "'[b]asic registration of handguns is deeply enough rooted in our history to support the presumption that a registration requirement is constitutional." *Id.* at 603 (quoting *Heller II*, 670 F.3d at 1253).

As to licensing, the D.C. Circuit in *Wrenn v. District of Columbia*, 864 F.3d 650 (D.C. Cir. 2017), anticipated the *Bruen* decision and enjoined the District's "good reason" requirement for obtaining a license to carry a concealed handgun based on text and history, without any inquiry into means-ends scrutiny. *See Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 15 (citing *Wrenn* with approval). At the same time, though, *Wrenn* reasoned that "[a]t the Second Amendment's core lies the right of responsible citizens to carry firearms for personal self-defense beyond the home, subject to longstanding restrictions" that "reflect limits to the preexisting right protected by the Amendment." 864 F.3d at 659, 667; *see also id.* at 664 ("[T]he Second Amendment must enable armed self-defense by commonly situated citizens: those who possess common levels of need *and pose only common levels of risk.*") (emphasis added). And, *Wrenn* added, "[t]hese traditional limits" that the Second Amendment tolerates

"include, for instance, licensing requirements." *Id.* at 667; *see also Medina v. Whitaker*, 913 F.3d 152, 154 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (concluding based on history and tradition that "felons are not among the law-abiding, responsible citizens entitled to the protections of the Second Amendment"). This Court has thus explained that *Wrenn* "did not invalidate the statutory scheme which required a person to obtain a license to carry a pistol outside the home," instead "[s]evering the 'good reason' provision" while leaving the other licensing requirements "operative" and constitutional. *Dubose v. United States*, 213 A.3d at 604-05; *see also Abed*, 278 A.3d at 129 n.27 (*Bruen* does not prohibit handgun licensing); *Brown v. United States*, 979 A.2d 630, 638-42 (D.C. 2009).

#### C. Additional Background

Leyton was 20 years old at the time of the shooting. Before trial, he moved to dismiss the CPWL, UF, and UA counts, arguing that the age-based restrictions on D.C. handgun licensing and registration violate the Second Amendment (R. 27). The government opposed (R. 46).

Judge Okun denied the motion in a written order, explaining that "D.C.'s agebased restrictions on the right to keep and bear arms are consistent with the text and history of the Second Amendment" (R. 50 at 5). *Bruen*, the trial court emphasized, "involved two 'law-abiding, *adult* citizens," and the concurring opinions suggested that licensing requirements and age-related restrictions remain valid (*id.* at 3 (emphasis by Judge Okun)). Further, the Court explained, "courts that have addressed this issue have consistently rejected Second Amendment challenges to age-based licensing provisions" (*id.* at 4). While "these pre-*Bruen* cases" might have "applied 'one step too many' in their analyses," they "discuss the text and history of the Second Amendment in a way that remains persuasive post-*Bruen*" (*id.*). And they reveal "a 'longstanding tradition of age- and safety-based restrictions on the ability to access arms," consistent with the District's laws (*id.*).

# D. The District's Age Requirements Are Constitutional Under *Bruen*.

# 1. Appellate Courts Disagree About the Constitutionality of Age-Based Restrictions.

This Court has not squarely ruled on the constitutionality of the District's agebased firearm restrictions. *Cf. Lowery*, 3 A.3d at 1175-76 (stating that firearmregistration requirements, including "§ 7-2502.03 (a)(1) (age)," are "compatible with the core interest protected by the Second Amendment); *Brown*, 979 A.2d at 642 ("leav[ing] for another day" "whether the Second Amendment generally affords a seventeen-year-old a right to bear arms"). Other courts disagree about the issue.

On one side, the First and Fifth Circuits have upheld age-based restrictions. See, e.g., Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of America v. McCraw, 719 F.3d 338, 347 (5th Cir. 2013); Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of America v. ATF, 700 F.3d 185, 199-204 (5th Cir. 2012); United States v. Rene E., 583 F.3d 8, 15-16 (1st Cir. 2009). While those decisions rested in part on the now-rejected interest-balancing "second step," they also relied on text and history in a way that remains persuasive post-*Bruen*.<sup>7</sup> They explain that persons under 21 are outside the scope of the Second Amendment because they were considered "infants" in the founding era, and that regulating firearm possession by persons under 21 is consistent with the Nation's historical tradition. Post-*Bruen*, at least one district court has recognized that "the panel's discussion of the historical record in *NRA* [*v. ATF*] satisfies the *Bruen* test" and rejected a challenge to § 922(b)(1) on that ground. *Reese v. ATF*, 647 F. Supp. 3d 508, 524 (W.D. La. 2022), *pending appeal* No. 23-30033 (5th Cir. argued Nov. 6, 2023).

After Bruen, the Eleventh Circuit similarly concluded in a now-vacated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In NRA v. ATF, the Fifth Circuit was "inclined to uphold the challenged federal laws at step one of our analytical framework, [but] in an abundance of caution, [the court] proceed[ed] to step two," and "conclude[d] that the challenged federal laws pass constitutional muster even if they implicate the Second Amendment guarantee." 700 F.3d at 204. McCraw treated NRA v. ATF's first-step analysis as binding, explaining that "under circuit precedent, we conclude that the conduct burdened by [Texas statutes prohibiting 18-to-20-year-olds from carrying handguns in public] likely 'falls outside the Second Amendment's protection." 719 F.3d at 347 (quoting NRA v. ATF, 700 F.3d at 203). Rene E. upheld a law barring firearm possession for juveniles under age 18. But "because the line between childhood and adulthood was historically 21, not 18, the First Circuit's conclusion that there is a 'longstanding tradition' of preventing persons under 18 from 'receiving' handguns applies with just as much force to persons under 21." NRA v. ATF, 700 F.3d at 204; see also In re Jordan G., 33 N.E.3d 162, 168 (Ill. 2015) (similarly reasoning that "our conclusion in [People v. Aguilar, 2 N.E.3d 321, 329 (Ill. 2013)], that age based restrictions on the right to keep and bear arms are historically rooted, applies equally to those persons under 21 years of age" as to persons under 18 in Aguilar).

opinion that such age-based restrictions were constitutional. *See Nat'l Rifle Ass'n v. Bondi*, 61 F.4th 1317 (11th Cir.), *opinion vacated upon granting of rehearing en banc*, 72 F.4th 1346 (11th Cir. 2023). While noting that "it's not clear whether 18to-20-year-olds 'are part of "the people" whom the Second Amendment protects,"" the *Bondi* panel explained that even assuming 18-to-20-year-olds fell within the Second Amendment's text, regulating "the sale of firearms to 18-to-20-year-olds is consistent with this Nation's relevant historical tradition of firearm regulation." *Id.* at 1324-25. The panel explained that "many states, when the Fourteenth Amendment was ratified, banned 18-to-20-year-olds from buying and sometimes even possessing firearms," doing so "to address the public-safety problem some 18-to-20-year-olds with firearms have long represented." *Id.* at 1332.

On the other hand, a divided Third Circuit panel recently struck down a Pennsylvania law that "effectively bans 18-to-20-year-olds from carrying firearms outside their homes during a state of emergency," concluding that the Second Amendment "presumptively encompass all adult Americans, including 18-to-20-year-olds, and we are aware of no founding-era law that supports disarming people in that age group." *Lara v. Comm'r Pennsylvania State Police*, 91 F.4th 122 (3d Cir. 2024). Judge Restropo disagreed, explaining in a lengthy dissent that "the scope of the right, as understood during the Founding-era, excludes those under the age of 21." *Id.* Notably, the Pennsylvania law effectively banned carrying of *all* firearms,

not just handguns.<sup>8</sup>

### 2. The District's Age Requirements Are Consistent With the Second Amendment's Text and the Nation's Historical Tradition of Firearm Regulation.

Leyton's facial challenge to the age requirement doubly fails. He fails to show that the plain text of the Second Amendment applies to persons under 21. Moreover, even if age-based restrictions fell within the scope of the Second Amendment, they are "consistent with this Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation." *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appeals addressing the constitutionality of age-based firearm restrictions including appeals from most of the district court cases Leyton cites (see Br. 20)are now pending in circuits across the country. See, e.g., Brown v. ATF, No. 23-2275 (4th Cir.) (in abeyance pending en banc decision in Maryland Shall Issue, Inc. v. Moore, No. 21-2017); McCoy v. ATF, No. 23-2085 (4th Cir.) (appeal of Fraser) (in abeyance pending Maryland Shall Issue); Reese v. ATF, No. 23-30033 (5th Cir. argued Nov. 6, 2023); Worth v. Jacobson, No. 23-2248 (8th Cir. argued Feb. 13, 2024); Rocky Mt. Gun Owners v. Polis, No. 23-1380 (10th Cir. appellee brief due Apr. 1, 2024); NRA v. Bondi, No. 21-12314 (11th Cir.) (en banc) (held pending Supreme Court decision in United States v. Rahimi, No. 22-915). Before Bruen, divided panels in the Fourth and Ninth Circuits found that specific firearm restrictions on 18-to-20-year-olds violated the Second Amendment, but their opinions were later vacated. See Jones v. Bonta, 34 F.4th 704, 720 (9th Cir. 2022), vacated on reh'g, 47 F.4th 1124 (9th Cir. 2022); Hirschfeld v. ATF, 5 F.4th 407, 418 (4th Cir. 2021), vacated and appeal dismissed as moot, 14 F.4th 322 (4th Cir. 2021). The Seventh Circuit found it unnecessary to decide whether 18-to-20-year-olds are within the Second Amendment's scope, upholding a parental-consent requirement under the now-invalid, interest-balancing step. See Horsley v. Trame, 808 F.3d 1126 (7th Cir. 2015).

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